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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Dr. Walter Warfield Building is located on the northeast corner of Upper and Short
Streets in Lexington, Kentucky. The structure is situated at a prominent corner site, at
the junction of the east side of the courthouse and the secondary commercial street of
downtown. The building anchors this corner of the courthouse square and is the north end
of the block which was known in the early nineteenth century as "Jordan's Row," named

“ after John Jordan, Jr., a pioneer merchant who owned the majority of the block on Upper
Street between Main and Short Streets.

This late Georgian brick building was originally two stories, but at a later date had added
a Mansard.roof. which created:.a, full-story.on the jront wing, four bays wide (photos 1

and 2)... The, present. east.wing. which, was, added presymably durlng the Greek Revival perlod
has nine bays with alternatlng doors and shop windows on the First story, including an
entrance to a narrow stair to the second story.

The facade on Upper has fine Flemish-bond brickwork. -The—di ive features are the
~“stone belt-course-petween the stories; the shapedl§§9ggmygter-tabie, of which only a

- fragient survives between the main entrance and the plain shop-window and modern cladding
that extends around the corner on Short St.; and the "folded! stgggmgeystoneSDremalnlng
on the second story windows, as well as at 1east one of a now-blind opening on the

north side next to the cornmer (photo 3). The cornice has been tracketted %photo 4),
presumably when the main entrance with its handsome (stone stoB}n the oriel, and the
Mansard story were added (photo 5). The third-story attic has 1arge two-over-two pane
sash dormers with somewhat Baroque (Second Empire) shaped frames and low pediments,
slightly ornamented. The slope of the roof retains hexagonal and polychrome slates.

The rear wing has plain Greek Revival raked frames, ahd it was widened to include the
former second—story inner gallery

The 1nter10r of the front block of the Warfleld Building retains much orlglnal woodwork,
althoughthexe are Greek Revival and Ttalianate elements as well, and some features,
such as the second—story mantels and some chairrails, have been removéd. Although the
-main.recessed entrance is standard Italianate, the stairhall is basically original and
intact, with a beautiful elliptical or three-centered arch separating the entrance area
from the stairhall in back; it has double Federal moldings and rests on delicate attenu-
ated paired colonnettes on panelled pedestals (photo 6). It appears that an opening to
the north wing in front of the arch was closed as early as the Greek Revival period,
probably when the present rear wing along Short Street was added, as a high baseboard
with layered convex moldings at the top and Grecian V-profile moldings across the center
rises from front to back along the north wall of the hall, with delicate, rather plain
Federal spindles and elegant stringers; the lower newel post is typical octagonal
mid-19th century; there is a nmarrow landing at the back‘and a return flight (photo 7)

The sgecnd story reap wirg is Tapagh %d fxzm a shgr* flight off the main landing, through,-
part of an original reeded opening. As Mentioned above, the :cprridor that provides
access to the upper stories in the rear wing was an open gallery, enclosed in the late
19th century or early 20th century when the courtyard was filled with parallel storerooms
(rather poorly constructed). Plain Greek Revival frames remain in at least two of

the original windows facing the gallery, as well as the doors, and inside the original
rear wing, which also has plain baseboards and minimal Grecian wood mantels. The base-
ment and Mansard story have also not been accessible for investigation; the interior of
the building is not well maintained, and parts are vacant.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

This fine late Georgian b;ick,st;ugpure{wwith distinctive stone keystones, belt-course

and water-table, has elégant Federal interior details including’'d”stairéase and-hallarch,
as well as a unique (for Lexington) posttCivil Wit Mansdrd®rodfi’ Loc&téd- on“a- conspieuous
downtown corner across from the courthouse square, it retains a most important nineteenth
century presence and scale. Built in 1806 for Dr. Walter Warfield, a prominent early
physician, it had in the nineteenthcentury an equally distinguished series of occupants,
mainly physicians and attorneys. In the twentieth century, it has had more varied tenants,
including a group of the town's leading black professionals before World War I.

Dr. Warfield (1760—1826) was a member of one of the outstanding families of central
Kentucky during the nineteenth century, and was himself "a very highly esteemed and
excellent citizen". His first wife was one of the daughters of Col. William Christian,
‘a pioneer settler of Jefferson County, Kentucky, and his second wife was also well-
_connected to the Lexington Parker family. His daughter married William W. Blair, who
was appointed commonwealth attorney and was a delegate to the 1850 constitutional
convention in Frankfort in 1850, wpeqzq?”wasjgyidgnt;y‘g:;es?§ent1ofrFleming Co., Ky.

PN

After Dr. Warfield's death in 1826, the building was not sold until a suit in 1839
between his daughter Ann Blair and the other Warfield heirs, when E.K. Sayre bought
the corner property (Emilius K. Sayre was listed as an attorney and counsellor on
Jordan's Row, 16 North Upper Street, in the 1838 directory). He and his wife Elizdbeth-
'sold it in 1852 tO.Drx John Browne, physician, who died in 1855. His widow left the
property to the Romar Catholic Bishop of Richmond, Va., in 188l; he sold it the'samé year
to Luther A. Buckner, who sold it three years later to Richard A. Buckner (1813-1900),
the prominent judge and attorney. It has changed hands several times in the twentieth
century, but seems to have been in the family of the present owner since 1921, when it
was acquired by Walter L. Honaker.

It is possible that the upper floors were not listed earlier, because in 1906-1907
there suddenly appear as occupants a group of the leading black professionals in the
city, who seem to have moved several times, often as a group: J. Alexander Chiles,
affluent attorney and realtor; Dr. John E. Hunter, nationally-known physician, for whom
the present Hunter Foundation was named; Dr. William T. Dinwiddie, dentist; and Dr.
Obed Cooley, physician.
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Dr. Walter Warfield Building outlinedfin red.
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Dr. Walter Warfield Building
Lexington

Fayette County

Kentucky

Sanborn Insurnace Map
University of Kentucky
1" = 50" 1886

Map 2 - Warfield building outlined in red.



